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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KORI THOMAS , CIVIL ACTION

Plaintiff ,

V.

CITY OF CHESTER, NO. 15-3955
POLICE OFFICER JAMISON ROGERS,
and JOHN DOES, Badge No. Unknown,

Defendants
DuBois, J. March 21, 2016

MEMORANDUM

l. INTRODUCTION

This civil rights case arises out of the arrest of plaintiff Kori Thomas figeo$ of the
City of Chester Police Department, including defendant Police Officer darRisgers. Plaintiff
asserts various claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against the City of Chester and Rogers
individually and in his official capacity.

Presently before the Court is defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint.
For the reasons that follow, the Court grants in part and denies in part the Motion tasDismis

I. BACKGROUND

The facts of this case as set forth in plaintiff's First Amended Complaint (herginafte
“Complaint”) are as follows. On May 5, 2015, plaintiff's “young child became iill as a result
her child could not attend school. Compl. 11 8-9. Plaintiff asked her isidtav-“if she could
watch the child for the day so plaintiff could go to classes at nursing schoohpICY 10. The
sisterin-law resided at 222 Meade Street, Chester PA 19013. Corhpl.Fresumably, though

this is not sated in the Complainthe child was taken to her sisiarlaw’s house.
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“After school, plaintiff returned to her sistardaw’s house” to pick up her child, and
when she arrived, went to use the bathroom. Compl. 1 12—-13. While plaintiff was in the
batlroom, the defendant police officers, Rogers andnknown officer, executed a search
warrant on the 222 Meade Street property. Compl. § 14. The subject of the seaach iwaiot
stated in the Complaint.

When the warrant was executed, “defendants Ragetoe detained at least twelve
people including plaintiff.” Compl. § 15. Plaintiff was subsequently arrested, taken inde pol
custody, and strigearchedCompl.{20-21. Plaintiff's bail was set at $100,000 and plaintiff
remained in custody for six days until $10,000 was paid by an independent bail bondsman.
Compl.f122-23. On May 21, 2015, “prosecution was withdrawn against plaintiff” and “the
criminal litigation resulted in plaintiff's favor.Compl.  24.

Plaintiff allegesthatshe %vas dischargefrom school as a result of the arrest. Plaintiff
has since been readmitted to school; however, she did lose an entire semesteand class
tuition.” Compl. § 26In addition,“plaintiff's young child was dismissed from school. The
child’s school was a government benefit that was revoked as a result of gi& @oenpl. I 27.

On July 17, 2015, plaintiff filed a Complaint in this Court, asserting claims under 42
U.S.C. § 1983 against defendants the City of Chester, Rogers, and a John Doe. On September 21,
2015, defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss. On October 5, 2015, plaintiff filed the First
Amended Complaint, whichssertshe following claims: (1) claims for “violation & 1983”
against all defendants (Count I); (2) claims for “unconstitutional sgizunder§ 1983 against
Rogers and the John Doe (Count Il); (3) claims for malicious prosecution under 8 1988 agains

Rogers and the John Doe (Count I{§) claims for conspiracy under 8 1983 against Rogers and



the John Doe (Count IV]5) and aMonell claim undeg 1983 against the City. Plaintdbeks
compensatory and punitive damages from all defendants.

On October 8, 2015, defendants fitb@ instant Motion to Dismiss the First Amended
Complaint. Defendants argue: (1) the “catch all” violation of § 1983 claims (Cpagainst all
defendants should be dismissed for failure to state a claim; (2) the claims fonstitwtional
seizure” and malicious prosecution (Count Il and Count Ill) should be dismissed dgainst
police officers in their offi@l capacity; (3) the claims for conspiracy (Count V) should be
dismissed for failure to state a claim; (4) Menell claim against the City (Count V) should be
dismissed for failure to state a claim; and (5) the punitive damages claim agalDiy tteould
be stricken.

1. APPLICABLE LAW

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure permits a party to respond to a
pleading by filing a motion to dismiss for “failure to state a claim upon which calrebe
granted.”To survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff must allege facts that “‘raise a rigali¢d
above the speculative levelVictaulic Co. v. TiemamM99 F.3d 227, 234 (3d Cir. 2007) (quoting
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). A complaint must contain “sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausitddfame.” Ashcroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiigvombly 550 U.S. at 570). A district court first
identifies those factual allegations that constitute nothing more than “legdlisions” or
“naked assertionsTwombly 550 U.S. at 555, 557. Such allegations are “not entitléueto
assumption of truth” and must be disregardgbal, 556 U.S. at 679. The court then assesses
“the ‘nub’ of the plaintiff['s] complaint—the wellpleaded, nonconclusory factual

allegation[s]—to determine whether it statagplausible claim for relietd.



“[1]f a complaint is subject to a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, a district court must permit a

curative amendment unless such an amendment would be inequitable orRuiilg}s v.
County of Alleghenyb15 F.3d 224, 245 (3d Cir. 2008). However, therCoway dismiss a claim
with prejudice based on “bad faith or dilatory motives, truly undue or unexplained delay,
repeated failures to cure the deficiency by amendments previously allowetljtyrdf
amendment.Lorenz v. CSX Corpl F.3d 1406, 1414 (3d Cir. 1993).

V. DISCUSSION

1. Count I: “Catch -All” Claim for Violation of § 1983

Plaintiff consents to dismissal of Count | against all defendahesCburt dismisses this
Count with prejudice.

2. Counts Il and lll: “Unconstitutional seizure” and malicious prosecution

Plaintiff asserts claimander § 1983 for “unconstitutional seizure” and malicious
prosecution against the police officer defendants in their indivahdhbfficial capacitiedn
their Motion to Dismiss, defendants seek dismissal of onlgfti@al capacity claims as
duplicative of theMonell claims. The Court agrees with defendants and dismisses the official
capacity claims against the police offickeafendants with prejudice.

A suit for damages against an individual municipal employeesiorther “official
capacity” is not cognizable unless the requiremenkdasfell are metKentucky v. Grahand73
U.S. 159, 169 (1985). Auit against a municipal employee in his or her official capacity is
equivalent to Monell claim against the municipalitfaee, e.gRosembert v. Borough of East
Lansdownel4 F. Supp. 3d 631, 638 n.5 (E.D. Pa. 2014) (“[A]ll claims against the Defendant
Officers in their official capacities will be dismissed as duplicative where the skim has

also been brought against the Defendant Boroughs.”). Some courts have determared that



official capacity suit against a municipal employee should not be dismissed imecalise it is
redundant of &onell claim against the municipal defendabée, e.gConner v. Boroughfo
EddystoneCivil Action No. 14-6934, 2015 WL 1021363, at *2 (E.D. Pa. March 6, 2015) (“A
claim that is redundant is not necessarily invalid.” (quo@nighton v. Schuylkill Cnty382 F.
Supp. 411, 415 (E.D. Pa. 1995)). However, the Court declinefdw ihese cases because the
official capacity claims require plaintiff to plead and prove the same elsrasihévonell

claim and provide plaintiff with the same potential reli&e Moore v. City of Philadelphia
Civil Action No. 14-133, 2014 WL 859322, at *3 (E.D. Pa. March 5, 2014) (reviewing cases
dismissing official capacity claims as redundant and dismissing redunélaial capacity

claims based on court’s inherent authority to “achieve the orderly and expeditioustidisjpds
cases”).

The Court exerciseits discretion to dismiss these duplicative and unnecessary official
capacity claimsThis dismissais with prejudice because amendment would be futile as any
official capacity claim for damages unde1983 is duplicative of Monell claim.

3. Count IV: Conspiracy in Violation of § 1983

Defendants argue thplaintiff’'s conspiracyclaimsmust be dismissed because plaintiff
has failed to plead sufficient facts to state a plausible claim. The Courteisagrd denies
defendant’s Motion t®@ismiss the conspiracy claimdowever, for the reasons stated above, the
Court dismissethe claims against thadividual defendants their official capacitiesncluded
in the conspiracy counGount IV.

“In order to prevail on a conspiracy claim under § 1983, a plaintiff must prove that
persons acting under color of state law conspired to deprive him of a federalbtguatght.”

Gannaway v. Berks Cnty. Priso#39 F. App’x 86, 92 (3d Cir. 2011).T]he plaintiff must



demonstrate (1) the existendeacconspiracy involving state action; and (2) a deprivation of civil
rights in furtherance of the conspiracy by a party to the conspifamh&lman v. Lancaster

Cnty, 510 F. Supp. 2d 377, 392 (E.D. Pa. 2007). “[T]he plaintiff must present evidence of an
agreement . . . as it is not enough that the end result of the parties’ independent coisddct ca
plaintiff harm or even that the alleged perpetrators of the harm acted in consmiallslism.”

Id. at 393.

In this case, plaintiff avers that “when the defendants executed the search thayant
agreed to indiscriminately arrest individuals present in the home without exgniithere was
probable cause to arrest those individuals.” Compl. I 65. Defendants argue thaleghatsoal is
a mere concluen . . . [and] plaintiff does not plead that she or anybody else overhea[r]d the
alleged agreement, and otherwise pleads no facts from which the conclusion coaldrbéhet
such an agreement was reached.” Dé&ft. to Dismiss at 17. The Court concled that
plaintiff has pled sufficient facts to state a claim. Contrary to defendagtshant, the
Complaint includes more than a conclusory restatement of the law. Plaintgfthaean
agreement occurred and outlines the general nature of the agteenaerest individuals
present in the home without conducting individaahlyses oprobable causé&laintiff is not
required, prior to discovery, to produce evidence that the alleged agreement whaesd/&

Thus, defendants’ Motion to Dismiss thenspiracy claims against the police officer defendants

in their individual capacities is denied.



4. Count V: Monedll Claim

Defendants argue that plaintiffidonell claim against the City must be dismissed
becaus¢he Complainfails to allege facts sufficierid state a plausible claim. The Court agrees
and dismisses thdonell claim without prejudice.

To satisfy the pleading standard favlanell claim, plaintiff “must identify a custom or
policy and specify what exactly that custom or policy wscTernan v. City of Yorls64 F.3d
636, 658 (3d Cir. 2009Fkiting Monell v. Dep’t of Social Servs. New York C486 U.S. 658
(1978)). If plaintiff's claim is based on the conduct of a municipal decisionmakertifblaiust
“allege conduct by a municipal decisionmaked.”If the policy at issue concerns a failure to
train or supervise employees, liability under § 1983 reqpiagstiff to plead factshowing that
the failure amounts to “deliberate indifference to the rights of personswvidm those
employees will come into contaciThomas v. Cumberland Cnty49 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir.
2014) (quotations omitted). Liability may be based on a single incident only if ¢ldefore
training is “sufficiently obvious.ld. at 223.

In this case, plaintiff’'$vionell claim fails to meet this standard. Excluding boilerplate
recitations of law, plaintiff's Complaint avers that the relevant decisionnre®Police
Commissioner Joseph Bail Jr., Confff.33-34, that the City “had insufficient policies and
customs regarding who to arrest during the execution of a search wariamip!.@ 70, and that
Commissioner Bail was responsible for those policies. Compl. § 77. The Complaitd fails
identify any specific custom or policy, but instesdbges that the policies were “insufficient” in
a generic wayWith regard to any failure to tratheory, plaintiff merely avers that the City
failed to adequately thia and supervise the police officer defendants, Compl. Y 80, and that

Commissioner Bail was responsible for training the police officers. C&fipB—79.



Plaintiff has failed to identify in the Complaiwhatspecificpolicy allegedly existed (or
did notexist)for which Commissioner Bail was responsible. This alone is fatal to plaintiff's
claim.See McTernarb64 F.3d at 658 (“To satisfy the pleading standard . . . [plaintiff] must . . .
specify exactly what that custom or policy was.”). The Court concludes thattieedmaocation
of the name of a policymaker in addition to a boilerplate recitation of the legal stasida
insufficient to state a plausible claim and survive a motion to dismiss.

In her Response to the Motion to Dismiss, plaintiff explains:

Executing a search warrant when other individuals are in a home aside from the

suspect(s) is a common situation and poses a recurring issue for officersl Shoul

the officers arrest only those persons for whom there is probable caussstmar

should the officers ignore the Fourth Amendment and arrest everyone in the

home? . . . The policy should have instructed officers that mere presence in a

home during the execution of a search warrant is not a crime and bystanders

cannot be arrested or charged withmes. Discovery will reveal arresting

bystanders during the execution of a search warrant is customary in yhef Cit

Chester and the City was deliberately indifferent to the ongoing violations of the

Fourth Amendment by its officers.
Pl.’s Resp., at 6-7. A policy of arresting all bystanders during the executoseaich warrant
regardless of probable cause may be a constitutional violation. However, none otite spe
allegations in plaintiff's Response are contained in the Complaint. In rulittgeanstant
Motion to Dismiss, the Court considers only the factual allegatiotiatrcomplaint. Having
done so, the Coudoncludes that they fail to state a plausMl@nell claim. Accordingly, the
Court dismisses thiglonell claim without prejudice.

5. Punitive Damages

Defendants seek dismissal of any punitive damages claims against the GitsheOnl

catchall count, Count I, and thdonell count, Count V, seek relief from the City. Plaintiffid

damnunclause only seeks punitive damages in the catch-all count, which has been dismissed

with prejudice. ThéMonell claim has also been dismissétius, the Court concludes that there



are no remaining punitive damages claims against the City. Howeversbptantiff has
agreed to the requested dismissal and becauséaihell claim was dismissed without prejudice,
the Court will dismiss any punitive damages claims against the City with prejudice.
6. Fourteenth Amendment Claims

Defendand also seek dismissal ahy Fourteenth Amendmenilsstantive due process
claims Plaintiff mentions the Fourteenth Amendment only once ilCraplaint, in the catch
all count, Count I, which has been dismissed with prejudice. The Court concludeséhsre a
substantive due press claimsemainingin the Complaint. Nonetheless, because plaintiff has
agreed to the requested dismissal, the Court will dismiss any FourteenthrAemtrstibstantive
due process claims with prejudice.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court grants in part and denies in part defenasiots’ M
to Dismiss. Plaintiff's Count | against all defendants is dismissed with prejiriaatiff's
claims against the individual defendants in their official capacities are dismighgqureyudice.
Plaintiff’'s Monell claim (Count V) is dismissed without prejudiceplaintiff's right to file a
second amended complaint if warranted by the facts and applicable law

The remaining claims in the case are: a claim uBd&83 against the individual
defendants intteir personal capacities for “unconstitutional seizure” (Count Il), a alaider
8 1983 against the individual defendants in their personal capacities for maliciousifionse
(Count Ill), and a claim under § 1983 against the individual defendants for conspiracy (Count

IV). An appropriate order follows.

L All of plaintiff's § 1983 claims are Fourteenth Amendment claims to the extent that they seek
to enforce the Fourth Amendment against municipal entities and empl8&geellapp v. Ohjo
367 U.S. 643, 655-56 (1961).



